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Mission
To be the most efficient and effective provider of retail services that makes a positive 

difference in the health, employment and economy of remote Indigenous communities 

by supporting quality and sustainable retail stores.

Vision
Outback Stores aspires to be the national company of choice by being the most efficient 

and effective provider of retail services that deliver quality and sustainable retail stores

Nutrition Policy
To improve the health of Indigenous people living in remote communities by improving 

access to a nutritious and affordable food supply.
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LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL

Date 13/09/2011
The Hon. Jenny Macklin MP
Minister for Families, Housing, Community Services 
& Indigenous Affairs
Parliament House
Canberra ACT 2600

Dear Minister,

In accordance with Section 36 of the Commonwealth Authorities and Companies Act 1997 
(CAC Act), I submit the annual report of Outback Stores Pty Ltd for the year ended June 2011.

Under section 36 of the CAC Act, the Directors of Outback Stores are responsible for producing 
an annual report that includes a financial report, Director’s report and Auditor’s report that is 
required by the Corporations Act 2001, and other additional information or reports required by 
the Minister for Finance and Deregulation’s orders under the CAC Act.

The reports and audited Financial Statements contained in this Annual Report were made in 
accordance with a resolution of Outback Stores Directors on the 25th of August 2011.

Yours Sincerely,

Stephen Bradley 
Chairman, Board of Directors
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CHAIRMAN’S REPORT

On behalf of the board I am pleased to report on Outback Stores performance for the 2010 – 2011 
financial year. Outback Stores provides retail management services to Aboriginal community 
stores in remote areas of Australia. We are a wholly-owned Commonwealth company with a 
mandate to improve the affordability and quality of nutritious food available in communities. 
Outback Stores is committed to making a positive difference in the health, employment and 
economy of remote Indigenous communities by providing quality, sustainable retail stores.

We are strongly committed to providing a long term commercially viable solution for the 
management of remote Aboriginal community stores. A key part of this long term strategy is 
that Outback Stores Pty Ltd should operate without any requirement for continued government 
funding. I am pleased to announce that in the FY11 financial year Outback Stores Pty Ltd made 
a small operating loss of $70k which is a major improvement on the FY10 operating loss of 
$1,988m. It is our intention that Outback Stores Pty Ltd will operate at a small surplus for the 
foreseeable future.

In Financial Year ending June 2011 Outback Stores was managing 10 unviable stores (not able 
to sustain operations without subsidy), 10 barely viable stores (Stores that sustain their own 
operations unless a major expense is incurred) and 5 viable stores (stores that sustain their 
own operation and produce profits for their owners). Unviable and barely viable stores required 
$1,437m in government subsidies last year to continue operating, a significant improvement 
on the $2,154m required in FY10. This equates to an average subsidy of $332 per person 
per annum in these communities to provide reliable access to affordable and healthy food. In 
addition we spent $793k upgrading the infrastructure in stores to reduce electricity costs and 
minimise wastage with better equipment.  While we will continue to improve the efficiency of our 
operations in store, in general our experience is that communities with fewer than 200 people 
cannot support a commercially viable store on a sustainable basis.

We have continued to encourage consumption of healthy food while not withdrawing what we 
consider unhealthy products (such as cigarettes), as our experience is that people will travel 
great distances to source their unhealthy preferences. Merchandise has worked closely with 
nutrition to improve our fruit and vegetable offered in stores. There has been a full review of the 
current suppliers, range, pricing structure and product specification and the necessary changes 
made. This year we moved our fruit and vegetable sales to random weight with a significant 
improvement in value and volume while maintaining the dollars spent in this category.

In addition to these improvements two new suppliers have now been added to our preferred 
supplier list, one in the top-end and one in central Australia. These suppliers are now being 
rolled out across the group and we have seen significant improvement in our fruit and vegetable 
performance:

•	 The	Top-end	trial	at	the	Gulin-Gulin	store	has	realised	an	8%	reduction	in	sell	price	with	an	
improvement	in	quality	and	these	factors	haves	realised	sales	growth	of	36%.

•	 The	central	Australia	trial	at	the	Nguru-Walaja	store	has	realised	a	24%	reduction	in	sell	price	
with	an	improvement	in	quality,	these	changes	have	realised	sales	growth	of	14%.

 
Overall we continue to believe that substantial diet changes will take a significant amount of 
time and involve continuing to work with health and nutrition groups in the communities.

We are commencing the pilot of a voluntary food card system in 8 communities where people 
can place part of their income into an account and then only spend it on a range of healthy 
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goods that have been agreed with the community. In addition to quarantining the money to 
reduce the impact of ‘humbug’, a discount will be applied to the healthy food purchased to 
further encourage an improved diet. The implementation of this initiative will be comparatively 
slow as extensive community consultation and agreement is an essential part of this approach. 
We will follow the take up of this new initiative with interest.

Outback Stores currently manages 24 stores with 21 in Northern Territory, 2 in Western Australia 
and 1 in South Australia. This year we have provided relief or emergency management for 1 
store and exited Wallace Rockhole store as we determined with FaHCSIA that there was no 
longer a significant food security need in the community. Three stores transitioned from shire to 
community ownership in 2011.

We have managed the design and construction of a new store at Ngukurr on behalf of the 
community. The new store has been very well received and the early sales results look very 
encouraging.

We are committed to employing Aboriginal people in as many roles as possible. Wherever 
possible the people employed in the store are local Aboriginal people and we are committed to 
developing their retail and commercial skills. We employed 191 Aboriginal staff and completed 
3,085 hours of training in FY11.

Rod Mainard resigned as CEO in June 2011 due to ill health. Rod has made a significant 
contribution to Outback Stores and I would like to thank him for his contribution in this last year.

Steve	Moore	was	appointed	CEO	in	June	2011.	Steve	was	previously	 the	Group	Operations	
Manager for the Arnhem Land Progress Association and has been involved with Outback Stores 
since its inception. Steve has extensive experience working with remote Aboriginal communities 
and I am confident that Outback Stores will continue to improve and grow under his leadership.

Roger Corbett resigned as a director of Outback Stores in August 2010, having been involved 
with Outback Stores since its establishment. I would like to thank Roger for the enormous 
contribution he has made to Outback Stores over the years.

Pat Miller resigned from the Board in August 2010 due to the pressure of other work 
commitments.

Heather D’Antoine was appointed to the Board in March 2011. Heather is the Associate Director 
for Aboriginal Programs and Education and Training at Menzies School of Health Research, 
and has a Masters in Health Economics, specialising in Aboriginal Health. Heather brings great 
knowledge of the issues facing Aboriginal health and the role that Outback Stores can play in 
improving it.

Bess Price is a Warlpiri woman from Yuendumu who was appointed to the Board in May 2011. 
Bess runs her own business working as a cross cultural consultant to Aboriginal communities. 
Bess brings great insight into the issues in remote Aboriginal communities, particularly in the 
Alice Springs area.

Naum Onikul was appointed to the Board in May 2011. Naum has worked in retail for over 40 years 
and completed his career in 2009 as the Director of Supermarkets and Liquor for Woolworths. 
Naum brings great insight into all types of retail operations, and is looking forward to using his 
years of commercial experience to assist Aboriginal people living in remote communities.

CHAIRMAN’S REPORT
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CHAIRMAN’S REPORT

All non executive directors on the board operate in a voluntary capacity and I thank them for 
the time and commitment devoted to Outback Stores. The Stores Assessment Committee has 
continued to assess and approve our major investments and commitments to stores. The Audit 
and Risk Committee has improved our controls and compliance under the leadership of Bob 
Hudson.

Outback Stores operates in one of the most demanding environments in Australia. I am 
constantly surprised and delighted by the enthusiasm and commitment of the Outback Stores 
staff. I would like to thank all of the people employed by, and supporting Outback Stores for 
their contribution. They are the key to our continuing success. We are all committed to making a 
very real contribution to improving the lives of the Indigenous people of remote Australia.

Stephen Bradley
Chairman
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CEO REPORT

Outback Stores saw some significant changes throughout 2011. First and foremost, for the first 
time in our history Outback Stores made a net income from continuing operations of $421k 
(before taxes) for the financial year. In real terms, this guarantees the long term future of Outback 
Stores and ensures we can complete the mission we were tasked with five years ago.

Our mission is to make a positive difference in the health, employment and economy of remote 
Indigenous communities by providing quality, sustainable retail stores. To put this into perspective 
imagine walking into your local supermarket and not being able to buy basic essentials like 
bread, milk, meat or toilet paper. Then think about the fact that the next supermarket is 200km’s 
away and you don’t have a car, how would you feed your family? In the past this has been the 
case for some remote communities and we at Outback Stores have managed to overcome 
these problems for people in some of the communities we now manage.
  
Access to food is only part of the story. While we do not restrict a person’s individual choice, 
we aim to encourage people to buy healthier options by making the healthier choices more 
affordable. We currently offer preferential pricing on fresh fruit and vegetables, sugar free drinks 
and healthy take away food items. Our in house nutritionist also works with both store staff and 
community members to ensure we are providing the right range of healthy choices in each store.

All of the stores we manage are run on sound commercial principles. While some are not viable 
due to small populations, we still operate these stores as efficiently as possible to keep the 
additional funds required to an absolute minimum. This has seen some stores improve from 
unviable to barely viable.
 
Another significant event this year was the completion of construction of the new Ngukurr 
General	Store.	In	conjunction	with	the	store	owners,	Ngukurr	Progress	Aboriginal	Corporation	
and Aboriginal Benefits Account, a new store building was constructed and opened in early 
June. This has given the residents of Ngukurr a modern, air conditioned store in which to shop 
for the first time. Early indications are very positive with a big sales increase and an increase in 
the sale of healthy foods. The store also adopted a no smoking policy around the store which 
has been well received by local residents.

While l have only recently joined the team at Outback Stores it has been very satisfying for me 
to see that Outback Stores has come of age and grown into an effective and efficient manager 
of remote retail stores. We currently manage 24 stores across some of the most remote parts 
of the Northern Territory, Western Australia and South Australia. Thanks to the hard work of our 
store, regional and support office staff, the stores are run as efficiently as possible while meeting 
the needs of the local community.

Outback Stores has a strong commitment to Indigenous employment and training. At present 
we have 192 Indigenous staff working in stores we manage. As we grow we would expect this 
number to grow, giving people real jobs in communities that have very limited opportunities for 
real employment.
 
One significant challenge this year has been the extended wet season. It not only impacted on 
store sales but also restricted the delivery of food into some communities. It took a concerted 
effort from all community stake holders to ensure the continued delivery of food into some of 
the most remote communities (see attached photos).

I would like to thank all of our staff for their hard work and dedication over the past year. Thanks 
to their efforts, Outback Stores is now a profitable business. It has not been an easy year with a 
number of key staff moving on during the year, this culminated with the recent and unexpected 
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CEO REPORT

departure of Rod Mainard. I would like to thank him for handing over the Company in such great 
shape.

I would also like to thank the Chairman and the Board of Directors who give up their time to 
assist Outback Stores and address the many challenges we face. As voluntary Directors and 
experts in their chosen fields, they bring a great deal of expertise to a company that would not 
normally have access to such skilled individuals. I am also personally grateful for all the support 
and assistance l have received since joining Outback Stores.

Finally l would like to thank our clients, without the 24 store committees we report to, Outback 
Stores would not exist. Working with the individual store governing bodies is by far the most 
rewarding part of the job. It’s great to work with the communities to help improve their stores 
and make sure we are meeting their needs.

  
Steve Moore
Chief Executive Officer

Yarralin store has been cut off since the end of January 
and has been receiving regular deliveries by charter flight

The road into Engawala community Access road to the Kundat Djaru airstrip

The Roper Highway on the way to Ngukurr General Store
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CEO REPORT

With Kundat Djaru Community totally cut off from outside access (including the airstrip), and with a natural disaster 
declared in the Halls Creek area, the only way to get stock into the store was via helicopter. The helicopter pictured above 
comes from Canada with a Canadian crew, and spends summer based in Melbourne. They had already helped with 
bushfires in Perth, and also evacuated the Warmun Community.

OPERATIONS TEAM

A highlight of the year has been the opening of the new store at Ngukurr on July 4th 2010.

This is the culmination of over two years of planning and works by our team, with the result 
achieving, (if not exceeding) everyone’s expectations.

Acceptance by the community has been impressive with sales jumping immediately by an 
average of $30,000 per week. The opening day was a very exciting time for the community, and 
also for our company.

The store is of a modern design that is large enough to meet future community needs and can 
carry a good range of groceries and needed household goods to capture the retail market in 
the local area.

The store construction had some delays caused by the extended wet season but has been 
built under budget, and is of a high quality construction. The building incorporates a large 
warehouse, 400 sq. metres of retail trading area, 120,000 litres of fuel storage for diesel and 
opal fuel, large cement forecourt and car park, and a large galley style food preparation area 
and takeaway facility.
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OPERATIONS TEAM

Outback Stores were also successful in securing funding for the purchase of two large 
telehandlers	for	the	Ngukurr	General	Store.	These	monsters	with	long	telescopic	arms	are	able	
to reach to the back of a shipping container, lift the grocery pallet up and remove it from the 
container. Store staff use the telehandlers to load and unload the grocery delivery trucks (road 
trains) during the wet season. The store operates a barge and previously all pallets had to be 
loaded and unloaded by hand as a normal forklift cannot operate on uneven boat ramps.

This last wet season provided many challenges that are not considered a normal part of retailing. 
The majority of the stores in Northern Australia were cut off by flood water for a much greater 
length of time than we have previously experienced. This led to a huge amount of time and 
effort to ensure that each store could overcome their individual issues in regards to transporting 
essential food and household items to each community. The assistance of emergency services, 
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Department of Families, Housing, Community Services and Indigenous Affairs, the Department 
of Indigenous Affairs (NT) from WA, NT Police, and local councils was greatly appreciated as the 
wet season progressed. Everyday provided new challenges.

Further, for the past two seasons, stores in central Australia have been severely affected by 
floodwater due to the higher than normal rainfall in that area.

Community stores such as Canteen Creek and Wetenngerr Store at Epenarra were forced to 
ferry stock from Tennant Creek with community members volunteering their time and personal 
vehicles to transport stock. This was very time consuming and was completed in very harsh 
conditions, an indication of the commitment and dedication of our managers, and their good 
relationship with the community. 

Once the wet season passed, a mice plague descended on the central Australian stores causing 
havoc.
 
Store managers had to manage with hundreds of dead mice each morning before they could 
open their stores. Our theme for the store managers’ conference this year is “breaking down 
barriers”. Some situations the team have to deal with, like those mentioned in this report, are a 
good indication of some of the “barriers” that we face when delivering our mission.

Throughout the year we have continued to focus on improving the capital infrastructure of each 
store to enable the stores to be in the best position possible to become quality sustainable 
retail stores. Several stores have received either new or second hand shelving, new refrigeration 
display cases, refrigerated air-conditioning, better improved store layouts, generators, 
refurbished kitchens for their takeaways, new large combi steam ovens, stocking trolleys, 
coolroom shelving, DVR CCTV systems, etc.

OPERATIONS TEAM
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The more we can set stores up correctly with the appropriate equipment and training, the 
closer we will get to improving sustainability. The need for operational underpinning for stores is 
declining, which is a very good indication of our success in this area as stores are able to trade 
with lower operating costs.

OPERATIONS TEAM

Opening day at Manyallaluk Community.  Young boy proud of the new store which has been set up.

View from the air of Nyirripi Community.  This photo shows the vast remote country we are 
working in.
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OPERATIONS TEAM

The staff are Santa Teresa store are seen here proudly receiving their joint Outback Stores Staff 
Members of the Year awards during the handover of the store business from shire ownership to a 
local community owned corporation in November 2010.
The awards were presented by Karl Hampton, the N.T. Minister for Central Australia
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Outback Stores aims to improve the health of Indigenous people living in remote communities 
by improving access to a nutritious and affordable food supply in a challenging environment.  
Stores in remote communities have a unique role, commonly holding the monopoly on the 
primary food supply. In addition to being the main food supply in many communities, the remote 
community store is considered a priority intervention setting for achieving nutrition and health 
goals. Therefore Outback Stores necessitate a level of social responsibility in our planning, and 
focus in our management role.
 
Below are some examples of work that has been at the centre of our attention this year to 
achieve such goals.

1. A memorandum of understanding was developed with the Jimmy Little Foundation to deliver 
promotional material and a strong “Thumbs Up!” message pointing customers to the good 
tucker found in their store. This included highlighting fresh fruit and vegetables and water 
only, as good health choices through the use of posters, stripping, stickers, and a recipe 
of the month program, along with some cooking demonstrations and children’s musical 
workshops producing a local DVD in language (for selected communities at this stage). This 
intervention is currently in the delivery process before evaluation commences in the near 
future.

2. A majority of the stores we manage were provided with capital grants funding through 
Department of Families, Housing, Community Services and Indigenous Affairs for the 
purchase of 22 open fronted display cabinet fridges to display fresh product. The new style 
fridges were delivered to stores in the later part of the financial year 2011. The fridge has 
proven to be a great asset for stores who were previously using glass door fridges, (many 
of poor standard), which were uninviting to the customers. Outback Stores believe that by 
installing open fronted display cabinet fridges, and positioning these towards the front of the 
store, it will highlight fresh produce within the store, as is seen to be effective in mainstream 
supermarkets. Further, it has increased the space dedicated to fresh produce within the 
stores to fresh produce to a minimum of 2.4m wide, thereby improving the emphasis in 
achieving one of our key health objectives of our business; increasing fruit and vegetable 
sales.

3. Continued work between our Merchandise team, Nutritionists and the food supply has seen 
developments of products to meet the customers’ demands with health in mind. An example 
of this is the roll out of a price equivalent and convenient alternative to pies and pastries for 
display in our food warmers. A change in behaviour towards this product would reduce the 
fat, including saturated fat and sodium intake by three quarters, resulting in a dramatic effect 
on the link to heart disease in consuming such convenience foods alone.

 
4. Many of the central stores received funding for take-away refurbishment upgrades, making 

the ability to provide safe, healthy foods in a tough environment more achievable. This will 
ensure stores are able to deliver the nutrition take-away policy and guidelines. Examples 
include the replacement of deep fryers with an efficient combi-system oven. This has made 
making meals more enjoyable for staff and also more time efficient. This included training 
for	store	staff	from	our	nutritionists	and	area	managers	and	with	NT	Government	community	
nutritionists.

5. Internal support and continued collaboration with research bodies saw the development of 
an important store committee driven policy for the new store at Ngukurr community. With 
the focus on supporting community to ‘Quit’ and reduce the large current smoking rates, the 
evidence is strong for the effectiveness of increasing smoke-free environments. 

NutRitioN outlook
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NuTRITION OuTLOOk

iNDiGENouS tRAiNiNG

The year has seen Outback Stores over-achieve against NT Department of Education (DET) User 
Choice funding for the 2010 calendar year with 2410 contact hours of training delivered against 
our contracted commitment of 2000. This solid performance against our contract has meant 
that the 2011 offer has been increased to 6550 hours. By continuing to drive store managers 
to conduct enrolments and training activity, we will build on performance each year. Barriers to 
participants’ eligibility to attract funding are also being addressed by seeking a more diverse 
range of funding streams and providing permanent employment arrangements to suitable 
candidates, securing their employment and training eligibility status.

Congratulations to Betty Williams from Tennant Creek Foodbarn who has had enormous 
success with programs made available by Outback Stores’ training function. Betty first joined 
the Foodbarn team as a stand out participant in a pre-employment program run by Outback 
Stores with Charles Darwin University and Julalikari Remote Employment Service (JRES) in 
September. Betty has now also graduated in the Certificate IV in Mentoring Diverse Cultures 
(Indigenous Mentoring) delivered by Darwin Regional Indigenous Advancement & Community 
Development	Employment	Projects	Inc	(DRIACDEP)	and	supported	by	Australian	Government	
Department of Education, Employment and Workplace Relations (DEEWR).

This region decided that the whole area of the new store including traditional social hang-outs 
at the front of the store, are to be completely smoke-free. A change in culture for the store staff 
and the whole community will give face to the importance of this issue at heart. The policy was 
well communicated including the decision by the store committee to border the store “smoke 
free” to make it clear. 

Stacey Holden
Nutrition Manager
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INDIGENOuS TRAINING

This is an accredited qualification which is recognised by employers nationally. With the 
mentoring skills acquired through her study, Betty will be an invaluable support for other 
Indigenous people employed at the Foodbarn.

The store manager induction program has been revised and refreshed to better serve the needs 
of our business and our clients. New store managers complete a comprehensive induction 
program encompassing field and office based training.  The induction process familiarises 
participants with Outback Stores’ company values, key people, policies and procedures.

New starters quickly achieve a realistic indication of community life which helps them get the 
most from the other aspects of their induction. Participants also gain essential skills in remote 
driving, working with cultural differences and nutrition principles in order to meet the key mission 
and values statements of Outback Stores.

Andy Alford
Training Manager
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ORGANISATION CHART
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STORE LOCATIONS
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BOARD COMMITTEES

Audit and Risk Committee:

The Audit and Risk Committee was established in 2007 and meets quarterly or as required. 
The company is required to have an Audit Committee under section 44 of the Commonwealth 
Authorities and Companies Act 1997.

The committee charter is to consider any matter relating to the financial reporting, internal 
control structure (including Director Reimbursement), Internal  risk management systems and 
external audit function of Outback Stores and any of its controlled entities.’

The functions of the committee include:
a) Helping the Company and its Directors to comply with obligations under the Commonwealth 

Authorities and Companies Act 1997 and the Corporations Act 2001 and,
b) Providing a forum for communication between the Directors, the Senior Management, and 

the internal and external Auditors of the Company.

Meetings held during the year and attendance

 Name Company Committee Attendance Meetings
  Director Position 8 Meetings in FY11 Missed 

Mr Robert Hudson  Yes Chairman 8 0 

Mr Stephen Bradley Yes member 7 1 

Mr Ted Moore Yes member 7 1

Mr Alastair King Yes CEO/member 6 2 

Mr Drew Robinson No Secretary 8 0 

Mr Rod Mainard No CEO 8 0

Ms Louise Dutton  No CFO 8 0 

Store Assessment Committee:
The Board established the Stores Assessment Committee in 2007, and meetings are held 
monthly or as required.
 
Its Charter is to consider any matter relating to Store Management with individual Indigenous 
communities including strategy, agreements, termination, expenditure, capital loans and 
underpinning.

The functions of the committee include:
a) To consider management proposals for store acquisitions under Management agreements, 

leases or purchases. Consider management proposals to discontinue management services.
b) To authorise requested operational underpinning by Management for unviable stores
c) To authorise requested capital underpinning by Management for unviable stores.
d) To authorise commercial loans to stores under company management.
e) To ensure robust procedures are implemented and followed for the use of public funds to 

support Remote Stores under company Management.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Meetings held during the year and attendance

 Name Company Committee Attendance Meetings 
  Director Position 12 Meetings in FY11 missed

Mr Stephen Bradley Yes Chairman 11 1 

Mr Robert (Bob) Hudson *10/9/2010 Yes member 1 0 

Mr Drew Robinson  No Secretary 9 3

Ms Kerin O’Dea *27/8/2010 Yes member 6 5

Mr Alastair King Yes CEO 1 0 

Mr Rod Mainard *27/8/2010 No CEO 11 0

Mrs Louise Dutton  No CFO 12 0

Note:  *Resigned  **Appointed

Steve Bradley
Chairman

Bob Hudson

Bess Price

Heather D’Antoine

Alastair king

kerin o’Dea

Naum onikul ted Moore
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outback Stores Pty ltd and Controlled Entity

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Meetings held during the year and attendance

The Board of Directors meet quarterly in August, November, February and May each financial 
year. 

 Name Director Committee  Attendance Meetings
    8 Meetings in FY11 missed

Mr Stephen Bradley (Chair) Non Executive SAC & AR 7 1 

Mr. Roger Corbett *30/8/2010 Non Executive Nil 0 1 

Mr Ted Moore Non Executive AR 6 2 

Mr Alastair King Non Executive AR 7 1 

Mr Robert Hudson Non Executive AR 8 0 

Ms Patricia Miller *18/8/2010 Non Executive Nil 0 0 

Ms Kerin O’Dea **15/7/2010 Non Executive  SAC 5 3

Ms Heather D’Antoine **9/3/2011 Non Executive Nil 3 1

Ms Bes Price  **24/5/2011 Non Executive Nil 1 1

Mr Naum Onikul  **24/5/2011 Non Executive Nil 0 2

Mr Drew Robinson Company Secretary  8 0

Note:  *Resigned  **Appointed

Directors and officers indemnity 

Outback	Stores	has	comprehensive	cover	with	 the	Australian	Government	Comcover	 for	 its	
Directors and officers.  In accordance with the contract of insurance with ComCover, Outback 
Stores is prohibited from disclosing details of insurance.

The liabilities insured include the costs and expenses that may be incurred in defending civil 
or criminal proceedings that may be brought against the Company’s Directors or Officers as a 
result of discharging their responsibilities and duties for the company.

Disability Discrimination Strategy

Since 1994, Commonwealth departments and agencies have reported on their performance as 
policy adviser, purchaser, employer, regulator and provider under the Commonwealth Disability 
Strategy.  In 2007-08, reporting on the employer role was transferred to the Australian Public 
Service Commission’s State of the Service Report and the APS Statistical Bulletin. These 
reports are available at www.apsc.gov.au. From 2010-11, departments and agencies are no 
longer required to report on these functions.
 
The Commonwealth Disability Strategy has been overtaken by a new National Disability Strategy 
which sets out a ten year national policy framework for improving life for Australians with disability, 
their families and carers. A high level report to track progress for people with disability at a 
national level will be produced by the Standing Council on Community, Housing and Disability 
Services	to	the		Council	of	Australian	Governments	and	will	be	available	at	www.fahcsia.gov.
au.	The	Social	 Inclusion	Measurement	and	Reporting	Strategy	agreed	by	the	Government	 in	
December 2009 will also include some reporting on disability matters in its regular How Australia 
is Faring report and, if appropriate, in strategic change indicators in agency Annual Reports.  
More detail on social inclusion matters can be found at www.socialinclusion.gov.au.
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Particulars 
Mr. S. Bradley

 Mr. A.R. King

Mr A.J. Robinson

Mr. E. A. Moore

Mr. R. C. Corbett

Mr. R.E. Hudson

Mrs. P. Miller

Prof.  K. O'Dea

Mrs. H. D'Antoine

Mrs. B. Price

Mr. N. Onikul

Mrs. P. Miller - resigned 18 August 2010
Mr. R.C. Corbett - resigned 30 August 2010

Information about the remuneration of directors and senior management is set out in the remuneration report of this directors' report, on pages 6 to 7.

Director of the Sansom Institute of Health Research at the University of South Australia and serves on 
national committees advising government on health and medical research, Indigenous health, nutrition and 
diabetes. In 2004, she was made an Officer of the Order of Australia for service to medical and nutrition 
research and the development of public health policy, particularly research into chronic diseases affecting 
Indigenous Australians. Appointed to the Board 15th of July 2010 in a non-executive capacity.

Chairwomen of the Indigenous Affairs Advisory Council NT. She has a Bachelor of Applied Science in 
Aboriginal Community Management and Development. She has worked in a variety of fields including 
education and training, translating and public administration. Appointment to the board 24th May 2011 in 
a non-executive capacity.

Former Senior executive with Woolworths over 40 years successful experience in the retail environment. 
He has specialised in all aspects of the food, liquor and petrol business and managed the Woolworths 
liquor business (BWS & Dan Murphy) during initial conceptualisation to growth. Appointment to the 
board 24th May 2011.

The directors of Outback Stores Pty Ltd submit herewith the annual financial statements of the company for the year ended 30 June 2011. In order to comply 
with the provisions of the Corporations Act 2001, the directors report as follows:

Information about the directors and senior management
The names and particulars of the directors of the company during or since the end of the financial year are:

Name

Remuneration of directors and senior management 

Joined the Board in 2006 in a non-executive capacity with over 25 years of retailing and remote retailing 
experience. Mr King was appointed CEO on 17 August 2009. Contract ended as CEO on 27 August 2010 
however still remains on the Board.

Company Secretary, appointed on 29 January 2008.

Former Senior Executive with Coles Myer, currently Chairman of Frontline Defence Services, joined the 
Board in 2006 in a non-executive capacity.

 Joined  the Board in 2006 in a non-executive capacity. Resigned 30 August 2010.

Chartered Accountant and former Managing Partner of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu in the Northern 
Territory, joined the Board on 24 July 2008 in a non-executive capacity.

Chairman, joined the Board on 31 July 2007 in a non-executive capacity. Mr. Bradley  specialises in 
logistics and information technology and was involved in Woolworths, Big W Discount Stores and J. 
Sainsbury in London.

Joined the Board in 2009 in a non-executive capacity. Resigned 18 August 2010.

The above named directors held office for the above mentioned terms.

Associate Director ofAboriginal Programs for the Menzies School of Health Research. In 2009 she was 
awarded the public health Association of Australia WA Branch, Indigenous Health Award. She has been 
involved extensively in research and presentations for Indigenous health throughout her career. Appointed 
to the board 9th March 2011 in a non-executive capacity.
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2011 2010

303,206 (15,375,725)
118,227 311,483 
421,433 (15,064,242)

 - (15,157,378)
2,413,533 4,322,408 

165,140 214,065 
(39,141) 29,849 

(1,952,716) (2,218,530)
(94,499) (266,174)
492,317 (13,075,760)

(70,884) (1,988,482)

Company secretary
Mr.  A.J. Robinson, Practising Solicitor, held the position of company secretary of Outback Stores Pty Ltd at the end of the financial year.  

Store grant expenditure (underpinning)

Outback Stores' principal activities in the course of the financial year were the management services provided to remote Indigenous Community stores across 
Australia.   Activities also include commercial loans and support to unviable remote community stores.

Gain on sale of fixed assets

Total operating loss 

Shares options granted to directors and senior management

We have continued to encourage consumption of healthy food while not withdrawing what we consider unhealthy products (such as cigarettes) as our 
experience is that people will travel great distances to source their unhealthy preferences. This year we moved our fruit and vegetable sales to random weight 
with a significant improvement in value and volume while maintaining the dollars spent in this category. Where we have managed to improve the quality and 
affordability of healthy food we have noted substantial sales increase and this will continue to be our focus. Overall we believe that substantial diet changes 
will take a significant amount of time and involve continuing to work with health and nutrition groups in the communities.

We have also focused on improving efficiencies within the business reducing operating costs substantially while maintaining high service levels to our stores.

Less:  Adjustments for non-operating profit

Principal activities

Review of operations

No share options were granted or authorised to directors and senior management.

The business of managing retail stores in remote community stores continues to be challenging due to the ongoing high operating costs both for the stores and 
for Outback Stores to service and support them. The company continues to work to reduce costs in stores and become more efficient in the way we manage 
them. The company still has a large number of stores that are not viable due to small populations and high operating costs.

Less:  Income tax expense
Profit / (loss) before income tax

Profit / (loss) for the year 

Combined store turnover for the financial year was over $63 million dollars from 25 stores. Outback Stores managed 24 stores at the end of the financial 
year.

Income/(loss) from preference share movements
Revenue from Government Grants
Impairment recovery

Grant expenditure
Total non-operating loss
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Subsequent events

Future developments

Dividends

Indemnification of officers and auditors

Non-audit services

Auditor's independence declaration

Director and senior management details

Mrs. H. D'Antoine (Appointed 9 March 2011)

Mrs. B. Price (Appointed 24 May 2011)

Prof.  K. O'Dea (Appointed 15 July 2010)

Mr. N. Onikul (Appointed 24 May 2011)

The auditor did not provide any non-audit services during or since the end of the financial year.

The auditor's independence declaration is included on page 8 of the annual report.

This remuneration report, which forms part of the directors' report, sets out information about the remuneration of Outback Stores' directors and its senior 
management for the financial year ended 30 June 2011.  The prescribed details for each person  covered by this report are detailed below under the following 
headings:

- remuneration of directors and senior management

Mr. S. Bradley (Chairman)

- remuneration policy

Outback Stores has not considered future development outside the scope of its principal activities. Accordingly, there is no development relevant to disclose 
in this report.

No dividends have been paid or declared since the start of the financial year and the directors have not recommended the payment of a dividend for the 
current financial year' performance.

Mr. E. A. Moore

There has not been any matter or circumstance occurring subsequent to the year end of the financial year that has significantly affected, or may significantly 
affect, the operations of the company, the results of its operations, or the state of affairs of the company other than those matters outlined in Note 16 to the 
financial statements.

The following persons acted as directors of the company during or since the end of the financial year:

- director and senior management details

Remuneration report

- key terms of employment contracts

Mr A.J. Robinson (Company Secretary)

Mr. R. C. Corbett (Resigned 30 August 2010)

Mr. R.E. Hudson

Mrs P. Miller (Resigned 18 August 2010)

During the financial year, the company paid a premium in respect of a contract insuring the directors of the company (as named above) and all executive 

officers of the company against a liability incurred as such a director or executive officer to the extent permitted by the Corporations Act 2001.

The company has not otherwise, during or since the end of the financial year, except to the extent permitted by law, indemnified or agreed to indemnify an 

officer or auditor of the company against a liability incurred as such an officer or auditor.

Mr. A.R. King 

- relationship between the remuneration policy and company performance
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Remuneration policy

Relationship between the remuneration policy and company performance

Remuneration of directors and senior management

2011 2010

                                                                                    746,211             961,253 
                                                                                             -               69,315 

                                                                                      16,458             111,332 
Total remuneration:                                                                                     762,669          1,141,900 

Bonuses and share-based payments granted as compensation for the current financial year

Termination benefits   

Executive officers

Mr. A.R. King (Chief Executive Officer, appointed 17 August 2009 and contract ended as Chief Executive Officer 
31 August 2010)

Non-executive directors

Ms. L. Dutton (Chief Financial Officer, appointed 1 March 2009)

Board approval is required to change the remuneration package of the Chief Executive Officer after determination by the remuneration tribunal.

Remuneration for employees is based on employment contracts that are linked to the individual’s and company performance.

Mr. R. Mainard (Chief Executive Officer, appointed 19 July 2010, resigned 7 June 2011)

Mr. S. Moore (Chief Executive Officer, appointed 29 June 2011)

Short-term employee benefits  

Mr B. Orr (Operations Manager- appointed 1 July 2009)

Other long-term benefits 

The term 'senior management' is used in this remuneration report to refer to the following persons that have the authority and responsibility for planning, 
directing and controlling the activities of the company. Except as noted, the named persons held their current position for the whole of the financial year and 
since the end of the financial year:

The company's earnings are reported under the statement of comprehensive income.

No remuneration has been paid to non-executive directors during or since the end of the financial year.

It is a requirement to agree any remuneration and wage contract of senior management with a member of the board. Remuneration is considered based 
on current market conditions and annual performance review.

Bonuses
Bonuses to senior management are provided for based on their individual employee contracts and are based on company performance and at the Boards 
discretion. 

Employee share option plan
No share-based payment arrangements existed during or since the end of the financial year.
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On behalf of the Directors

Mr. S. Bradley

Director

Darwin, Dated:

Mr. S. Moore (Chief Executive Officer ) - Three month contract commencing 29 June 2011, with a required termination notice period of one month.(This is 
while Outback Stores obtain official approval for a longer term contract).

Key terms of employment contracts

Mr. B. Orr - (Operations Manager) - Permanent position commencing 1 July 2009 with a required termination notice of eight weeks.

Ms. L. Dutton - (Chief Financial Officer) - Permanent position commencing  1st March 2009 with a required termination notice of eight weeks.

Employment contracts are negotiated on a per person basis and include the following details.  Unless noted otherwise, the termination notice required to 
terminate the contract are four weeks. 

Mr. R. Mainard (Chief Executive Officer) - Three year contract commencing 19 July 2010, with a required termination notice of three months. (Resigned 7 
June 2011)

Mr. A.R. King (Chief Executive Officer ) - One year contract commencing 17 August 2009, with a required termination notice period of three months. 
Contract ended 31 August 2010.

Page 7



Outback Stores Pty Ltd Annual Report 2010-2011 Page 26 of 72

outback Stores Pty ltd and Controlled Entity

AuDITOR’S INDEPENDENT DECLARATION



Outback Stores Pty Ltd Annual Report 2010-2011 Page 27 of 72

outback Stores Pty ltd and Controlled Entity

INDEPENDENT AuDITOR’S REPORT



Outback Stores Pty Ltd Annual Report 2010-2011 Page 28 of 72

outback Stores Pty ltd and Controlled Entity

INDEPENDENT AuDITOR’S REPORT



Outback Stores Pty Ltd Annual Report 2010-2011 Page 29 of 72

outback Stores Pty ltd and Controlled Entity

DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION

Outback Stores Pty Ltd and Controlled Entity

Directors' declaration

(a)

(b)

(c)

Mr. S. Bradley

Director

Darwin, Dated:

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors made pursuant to s.295(5) of the Corporations Act 2001.

On behalf of the Directors

The directors of Outback Stores Pty Ltd declare that:

in the directors' opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay 
its debts as and when they become due and payable;

in the directors' opinion, the attached financial statements and notes thereto are in accordance with the 
Corporations Act 2001, including compliance with accounting standards and giving a true and fair 
view of the financial position and performance of the consolidated entity; and

in the directors' opinion, the attached financial statements and notes thereto are in compliance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards, as stated in note 2 to the financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
for the year ended 30 June 2011

year ended 
2011

year ended 
2010

Notes $ $
Continuing Operations
Revenue
Revenue from Government Grants 3A 2,413,533 4,322,408 
Sale of goods and rendering of services 3B 3,661,864 4,744,317 
Interest 3C 3,048,728 2,406,304 
Rental income 3D 18,968 14,101 
Store recoveries and charges 3E 5,065,965 5,291,981 
Other revenue 3F 1,696,363 1,361,178 
Total Income 15,905,421 18,140,289 

Expenses
Consulting expenses 181,743 222,335 
Cost of goods sold 4A 1,093,735 1,477,349 
Depreciation and amortisation 4B 1,740,823 1,486,726 
Employee benefit 4C 7,968,537 8,960,950 
Finance costs 4D 302 6,452 
Impairment / (impairment recovery) of assets 4E (165,140) (214,065)
(Gain) / Loss on disposal of fixed assets 4F 39,141 (29,849)
Rental expenses 4G 271,206 526,413 
Store grant expenditure 4H 1,952,716 2,218,530 
Other expenses 4I 2,306,426 3,126,138 
Other grant expenditure 4J 94,499 266,174 
Total Expenses 15,483,988 18,047,153 

Net income / (loss) from continuing operations 421,433 93,136 

Preference share movements through profit or loss
Other Expenses
Chaing in fair value of preference shares 5A  - 14,173,778 
Interest expense on preference shares 5A  - 983,600 
Net income / (loss) from preference shares movements  - 15,157,378 

Profit / (loss) before income tax 421,433 (15,064,242)
Income tax expense 6A 118,227 311,483 

Profit / (loss) for the year 303,206 (15,375,725)

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax  -  -

Total comprehensive income / (loss) for the year, net of tax 303,206 (15,375,725)

Profit / (loss) for the year is attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent 303,206 (15,375,725)

Total comprehensive income / (loss) is attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent 303,206 (15,375,725)

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Consolidated

Page 12



Outback Stores Pty Ltd Annual Report 2010-2011 Page 31 of 72

outback Stores Pty ltd and Controlled Entity

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
for the year ended 30 June 2011

Outback Stores Pty Ltd and Controlled Entity

2011 2010
Notes $ $

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 7A 63,321,323 63,793,528 
Inventories 7B 101,486 200,826 
Trade and other receivables 7C 2,503,558 1,867,733 
Other financial assets 7D 98,768 65,894 
Current tax asset 6C - 266
Other current assets 7E 126,496 80,252 
Total current assets 66,151,631 66,008,499 

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 8 2,415,571 3,975,075 
Deferred tax asset 6D 309,241 268,148 
Other financial assets 7D 381,771 355,676 
Intangibles 9 52,147 199,986 
Total non-current assets 3,158,730 4,798,885 

Total Assets 69,310,361 70,807,384 

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 10A 815,600 894,120 
Grants 10B 28,033,060 29,839,938 
Provisions 10C 552,610 622,065 
Borrowings 10D - 56,051 
Current tax liability 6C 160,757 -
Total current liabilities 29,562,027 31,412,174 

Non-current liabilities
Grants 10B - -
Provisions 10C 152,165 100,810 
Borrowings 10D - -
Deferred tax liabilities 6D 17,110 18,547 
Total non-current liabilities 169,275 119,357 

Total Liabilities 29,731,302 31,531,531 

Net Assets 39,579,059 39,275,853 

EQUITY
Issued capital 11 40,000,001 40,000,001 
Retained earnings (420,942) (724,148)

Total Equity 39,579,059 39,275,853 

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
as at 30 June 2011

Consolidated
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for the year ended 30 June 2011

Consolidated

Fully Paid Retained Total

Ordinary Shares Earnings Equity
$ $ $

Balance at 1 July 2009 1 14,651,577 14,651,578 
Conversion of Redeemable Cumulative Preference Shares to ordinary 
shares 40,000,000 40,000,000 

Total comprehensive income for the year, net of tax (15,375,725) (15,375,725)

Balance as at 30 June 2010 40,000,001 (724,148) 39,275,853 

Balance at 1 July 2010 40,000,001 (724,148) 39,275,853 

Total comprehensive income for the year, net of tax - 303,206 303,206 
Balance as at 30 June 2011 40,000,001 (420,942) 39,579,059 

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
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for the year ended 30 June 2011

year ended 
2011

year ended 
2010

Notes $ $

Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts from customers 10,361,321 13,110,500 
Payments to suppliers and employees (11,804,366) (18,544,333)
Grants received 606,655 168,564 
Interest and other costs of finance paid (302) (6,452)
Income taxes (paid) / refunded 266 910,190 
Net cash flows (used in) / generated by operating activities 13b (836,426) (4,361,531)

Cash flows from investing activities
Payments for property, plant and equipment (146,176) (366,902)
Proceeds from sales of property, plant and equipment 76,685 462,889 
Payment for purchase of intangible assets (2,598) (9,585)
Underpinning payments for stores and other grants (2,047,214) (2,484,703)
Amounts received / (advanced to) from stores under commercial loans 106,171 310,168 
Interest received 2,433,405 3,217,350 
Net cash flows generated / (used in) by investing activities 420,273 1,129,217 

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issues of redeemable preference shares  -  -
Repayment of capitalised finance lease (56,052) (66,576)
Net cash flows (used in) / generated by financing activities (56,052) (66,576)

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (472,205) (3,298,891)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 63,793,528 67,092,419 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 13a 63,321,323 63,793,528 

 The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Consolidated
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2011

Note 1: General information

1. General information

The Outback Stores' registered office and principal place of business of the company are as follows:

67 Pruen Road
Berrimah
Darwin NT 0828

Note 2: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

2. Significant accounting policies

Statement of compliance

Basis of preparation

Critical accounting judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty

The financial statements have been prepared on the basis of historical cost except for certain non-current assets and financial instruments that 
are measured at fair value, as explained in the accounting policies below. Historical Cost is generally based on the fair values of the 
consideration given in exchange for assets. All amounts are presented in Australian dollars, unless otherwise noted. All amounts have been 
rounded to the nearest dollar.

In the application of the Group's accounting policies, management is required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are 
based on historical experience and various other factors that are considered to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which 
form the basis of making the judgements. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period 
in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision 
affects both current and future periods. 

Outback Stores Pty Ltd (Outback Stores) is a proprietary company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in Australia.  Outback 
Stores principal activities are management services provided to remote Indigenous community stores across Australia and commercial loans 
and other financial support to unviable remote community stores through the support of the Commonwealth Department of Families, 
Housing, Community Services and Indigenous Affairs (FaHCSIA).

Compliance with Australian Accounting Standards ensures that the financial statements and notes also compy with International Reporting 
Standards (IFRS).

The financial statements are general purpose financial statements and have been prepared in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, 
Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB) and comply with other 
requirements of the law that apply for the reporting period.

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the directors on 25 August 2011.

The Group consist of Outback Stores and entities (including special purpose entities) controlled by Outback Stores (its subsidiaries referred 
to as 'the Group' in these financial statements).
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Note 2: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Adoption of new and revised Accounting Standards 

2.1

Standards affecting presentation and disclosure

Amendments to AASB 7 ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosure’ (adopted in 
advance of effective date of 1 January 2011)

Amendments to AASB 5 ‘Noncurrent Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued 
Operations’

Standards and Interpretations affecting amounts reported in the current period (and/or prior periods)

The following new and revised Standards and Interpretations have been adopted in the current period and have affected the amounts reported 
in these financial statements. Details of other Standards and Interpretations adopted in these financial statements but that have had no effect 
on the amounts reported are set out in section 2.2.

The amendments (part of AASB 2010-4 ‘Further Amendments 
to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Annual 
Improvements Project’) clarify the required level of disclosures 
about credit risk and collateral held and provide relief from 
disclosures previously required regarding renegotiated loans.

Disclosures in these financial statements have been modified to 
reflect the clarification in AASB 2009-5 ‘Further Amendments 
to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Annual 
Improvements Project’ that the disclosure requirements in 
Standards other than AASB 5 do not generally apply to 
noncurrent assets classified as held for sale and discontinued 
operations.

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

- future on cost rates; and 

Management judgement is applied in determining the following key assumptions used in the calculation of long service leave at balance date;
Employee entitlements

- future increases in wage and salaries;

Inventory set out in note 7B represents finished goods purchased for sale in the retail stores owned and managed by the company and is 
calculated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.  The net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling price in the ordinary 
course of business less estimated cost to sell which approximates fair value less cost to sell.  The key assumptions require the use of 
management judgement and are reviewed annually.  These key assumptions are the variables affecting the estimated costs to sell and the 
expected selling price. Any reassessment of cost to sell or selling price in a particular year will affect the cost of goods sold. The potential 
effect of a change in these assumptions is not material.

The following critical accounting judgements have been made in determining the values contained in the financial statements. Unless 
otherwise stated below, it is impractical to determine the effect of a change in these accounting judgements.

As described in note 2(m), the Group reviews the estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment at the end of each annual reporting 
period.  Changes were made to the useful lives for motor vehicles leased to the stores and point of sale systems. Management determined a 
shortened effective life for motor vehicles leased to the stores and point of sale systems, due to the remote location and harsh conditions they 
are used in. The potential effect of a change in these estimates is not expected to be material.

In the current year, the company has adopted all of the new and revised Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting 
Standards Board (the AASB) that are relevant to its operations and effective for the current annual reporting period. These did not result in 
any material financial impact on the financial statements of the company.

Inventories

- experience of employee departures and period of service

The potential effect of a change in these assumptions is not expected to be material. 

Intangible assets
Useful lives for trademarks are based on contractual life for trademark registrations.  In determining the estimated useful lives for IT 
Software, management relies on guidance provided by the Australian Taxation Office. The potential effect of a change in these estimates is 
not material.
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2011

Note 2: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Amendments to AASB 101 ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’ (adopted 
in advance of effective date of 1 January 2011)

Amendments to AASB 107 ‘Statement of Cash Flows’

2.2. Standards and Interpretations in issue not yet adopted

Standard / Interpretation Effective for annual 
reporting periods 
beginning on or after

Expected to be initially applied in the  
year ending

AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures (revised December 2009), AASB 2009-
12 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards

1 January 2011 30 June 2012

AASB 9 Financial Instruments, AASB 2009-11 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 and AASB 2010-7 
Amendements to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 

1 January 2013 30 June 2014

AASB 2009-14 Amendments to Australian Interpretation - Prepayments of a 
Minimum Funding Requirement

1 January 2011 30 June 2012

AASB 2010-4 Further Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
arising from the Annual Improvements Project

1 January 2011 30 June 2012

AASB 2010-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 1 January 2011 30 June 2012

AASB 2010-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - 
Disclosures on Transfers of Financial Assets

1 July 2011 30 June 2012

AASB 2010-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Deferred 
Tax: Recovery of Underlying Assets

1 January 2012 30 June 2013

AASB 1053 Application of Tiers of Australian Accounting Standards 1 July 2013 30 June 2014
AASB 1054 Australian Additional Disclosures 1 July 2011 30 June 2012

Economic dependency

Standards and Interpretations affecting the reported results or financial position
There are no new and revised Standards and Interpretations adopted in these financial statements affecting the reporting results or financial 
position.

The amendments (part of AASB 2010-4 ‘Further Amendments 
to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Annual 
Improvements Project’) clarify that an entity may choose to 
present the required analysis of items of other comprehensive 
income either in the statement of changes in equity or in the 
notes to the financial statements.
The amendments (part of AASB 2009-5 ‘Further Amendments 
to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Annual 
Improvements Project’) specify that only expenditures that 
result in a recognised asset in the statement of financial 
position can be classified as investing activities in the 
statement of cash flows. Consequently, cash flows in respect of 
development costs that do not meet the criteria in AASB 138 
Intangible Assets for capitalisation as part of an internally 
generated intangible asset (and, therefore, are recognised in 
profit or loss as incurred) have been reclassified from investing 
to operating activities in the statement of cash flows.

At the date of authorisation of the financial statements, the following Standards and Implementation were in issue but not yet effective:

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, however the existence of the company was historically highly 
dependent upon continued government grant funding.

Page 18



Outback Stores Pty Ltd Annual Report 2010-2011 Page 37 of 72

outback Stores Pty ltd and Controlled Entity

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 30 June 2011

Outback Stores Pty Ltd and Controlled Entity
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2011

Note 2: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Accounting policies

(a) Basis of consolidation

(b) Borrowing costs

(c) Cash and cash equivalents

(d) Employee benefits

The following significant accounting policies have been adopted in the preparation and presentation of the financial statements:

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with those used 
by other members of the Group. 

There are no non-controlling interests for the Group to report on.

Liabilities recognised in respect of employee benefits expected to be settled within 12 months are measured at their nominal values using the 
remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement.

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets , which are assets that necessarily take 
a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are 
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Liabilities recognised in respect of employee benefits which are not expected to be settled within 12 months are measured as the present 
value of the estimated future cash outflows to be made by the group in respect of services provided by employees up to reporting date.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities (including special purpose entities) 
controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries referred to as 'the Group' in these financial statements). Control is achieved where the Company 
has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. 

The results of subsidiaries acquired during the year are included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income from the effective 
date of acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate.

Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities in the statement of financial position. The group did not have an overdraft 
during the financial period.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and long service leave when it is 
probable that settlement will be required and they are capable of being measured reliably.

Cash comprises cash on hand and on demand deposits. Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible 
to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value.  
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Note 2: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(e) Financial instruments

Effective interest method

Loans and receivables

(f) Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by the Group

Classification of Debt and equity instruments

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest income over the 
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees on points paid or 
received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life 
of the debt instrument, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Financial assets are classified into the following specified categories: financial assets 'at fair value through profit or loss '(FVTPL), 'held to 
maturity' investments, 'available-for sale' (AFS) financial assets and 'loans and receivables'. The classification depends on the nature and 
purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition. 

Financial assets

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. 
Movements in equity instruments in the Group during the reporting period are outlined in the statement of changes in equity and Note 11.

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement.  

Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities ‘at fair value through profit or loss’ or other financial liabilities.
Financial liabilities

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition 
or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are 
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs 
directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised immediately 
in profit or loss.

Equity Instruments

Trade receivables, loans, and other receivables that have fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market are classified 
as ‘loans and receivables’. Loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment. 
Interest income is reconised by applying the effective interest method, except for short-term receivables when the recognition of interst 
would be immaterial.

Financial assets, other than those at fair value through profit or loss, are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting 
period. Financial assets are considered to be impaired when there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred 
after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the investment have been affected. For financial assets 
carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss recognised is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present 
value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the financial asset's original effective interest rate. 

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced directly by the impairment loss with the exception of trade receivables where the 
carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account. When a trade receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against the 
allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against the allowance account. Changes in the 
carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised in profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can 
be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed 
through profit or loss to the extent the carrying amount of the financial asset at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the 
amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when an entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Impairment of financial assets
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Note 2: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(g) Government grants

(h) Impairment of long-lived assets

If the recoverable amount of an asset (cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset 
(cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the 
relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is increased to the revised estimate 
of its recoverable amount, but only to the extent that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have 
been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss 
is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the 
impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

Other grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses the related 
costs for which the grants are intended to compensate. Government grants that are receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already 
incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in 
of the period in which they become receivable.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amount of its assets to determine whether there is any indication that 
those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to 
determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Recoverable amounts is measured as value in use. Where the asset does not generate 
cash flows that are independent from other assets, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset 
belongs. Where a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-
generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent 
allocation basis can be identified.

Government grants are not recognised as income until there is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching 
to them and the grants will be received.

Intangible assets are tested for impairment whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired.
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows 
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the 
risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

Financial liabilities are classified at fair value through profit or loss when the financial liability is either held for trading or it is designated at 
fair value through profit or loss.

Other financial liabilities, including borrowings, are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs. Other financial liabilities are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, with interest expense recognised on an effective yield basis. 

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest expense over the 
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through the expected life of the 
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount of initial recognition.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are stated at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on remeasurement recognised 
in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss incorporates any interest paid on the financial liability and is included in the 
'other gains and losses' line item in the statement of comprehensive income. Fair value is determined in the manner described in note 18C.

Government grants are assistance by the government in the form of transfers of resources to the Group in return for past or future compliance 
with certain conditions relating to the operating activities of the Group. Government grants include government assistance where there are no 
conditions specifically relating to the operating activities of the Group other than the requirement to operate in certain regions or industry 
sectors. Government grants are initially recognised as a liability.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Other financial liabilities
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Note 2: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(i) Income tax

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payble and deferred tax.

(j) Intangible assets

Patents, trademarks and licences are recorded at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. Amortisation is recognised on a 
straight line basis over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and amortisation method is reviewed at the end of each 
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, branches and associates, 
and interests in joint ventures except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that the 
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated 
with such investments and interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against 
which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or the 
asset realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting date. The 
measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group 
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legallay enforceable right and when they relate to income taxes levied by the 
same taxation authority and the company intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except, when they relate to items that are recognised in other comprehensive income 
or directly in equity, in which case the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, 
respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the 
accounting for the business combination.

Current and deferred tax for the year

Patents, trademarks and licences

Current tax
Current tax is calculated by reference to the amount of income taxes payable or recoverable in respect of the taxable profit or tax loss for the 
period. It is calculated using tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by reporting date. Current tax for current 
and prior periods is recognised as a liability (or asset) to the extent that it is unpaid (or refundable).

Deferred tax is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method. Temporary differences are differences between the tax base of an asset 
or liability and its carrying amount in the statement of financial position. The tax base of an asset or liability is the amount attributed to that 
asset or liability for tax purposes.

In principle, deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that 
it is probable that sufficient taxable amounts will be available against which deductible temporary differences or unused tax losses and tax 
offsets can be utilised. However, deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary differences giving rise to them arise 
from the initial recognition of assets and liabilities (other than as a result of a business combination) which affects neither taxable income nor 
accounting profit. Furthermore, a deferred tax liability is not recognised in relation to taxable temporary differences arising from the initial 
recognition of goodwill.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer 
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.
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Note 2: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

IT Software   

Estimated useful lives are:
Class of intangible asset 2011 2010

Trademarks  10 years 10 years
IT software 2.5 years 2.5 years

(k) Inventories

(l) Leased assets

As lessee
Assets held under finance leases are initially recognised at their fair value or, if lower, at amounts equal to the present value of the minimum 
lease payments, each determined at the inception of the lease. The corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the statement of 
financial position as a finance lease obligation.

Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on 
the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are charged directly to profit or loss, unless they are directly attributable to qualifying 
assets, in which case they are capitalised in accordance with the Group’s general policy on borrowing costs.  Refer to note 2(b). Contingent 
rentals are recognised as expenses in the periods in which they are incurred.

Finance leased assets are depreciated on a straight line basis over the estimated useful life of the asset.  Refer to note 2(m).
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term, except where another systematic basis is 
more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed. Contingent rentals arising under 
operating leases are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

As lessor

Leases are classified as finance leases when the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership  to the lessee. 
All other leases are classified as operating leases.

IT Software is recorded at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment. Amortisation is recognised on a straight line basis over their 
estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and amortisation method is reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of 
any changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recognised as receivables at the amount of the Group's net investment in the leases. 
Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the Group's net investment 
outstanding in respect of the leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in 
negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised on a straight-line basis over 
the lease term.

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs, including an appropriate portion of fixed and variable overhead 
expenses,assigned to inventory on hand by the method most appropriate to each particular class of inventory, with the majority being valued 
on a first in first out basis. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price less all estimated costs of completion and costs 
necessary to make the sale.
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Note 2: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(m) Property, plant and equipment

Class of Property, Plant and Equipment 2011 2010
Containers 20% 20%
Furniture and Fittings 20% 20%
Housing 10% 10%
IT Equipment 25% - 66.67% 25% - 66.67%
Capitalised leased assets 20% - 66.67% 20% - 66.67%
Leasehold improvements 2.50% 2.50%
Motor vehicles and components 20% - 33.33% 20% - 66.67%

(n) Provisions

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, the receivable is 
recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

Buildings represent portable housing and fixtures in remote communities and are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accounting 
impairment losses.

The following depreciation rates were used for each class of asset:

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at reporting date, 
taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to 
settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time value of money is 
material).

Furniture and fittings, containers, leasehold improvements, motor vehicles and components and equipment under finance lease are stated at 
cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment. Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the item. In 
the event that settlement of all or part of the purchase consideration is deferred, cost is determined by discounting the amounts payable in the 
future to their present value as at the date of acquisition.

Depreciation is provided on property, plant and equipment, including freehold buildings. Depreciation is calculated on a straight line basis so 
as to write off the net cost or other revalued amount of each asset over its expected useful life to its estimated residual value. Leasehold 
improvements and equipment under finance lease are depreciated over the period of the lease or estimated useful life, whichever is the 
shorter, using the straight line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each 
annual reporting period, with the effect of any changes recognised on a prospective basis. Assets acquired under $1,000 are written off 
immediately for financial accounting purposes. 

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that the 
Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

Depreciation on buildings is charged to profit or loss. On the subsequent sale or retirement of a revalued buildings, the attributable 
revaluation surplus remaining in the revaluation reserve, net of any related taxes, is transferred directly to retained earnings.
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Note 2: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(o) Revenue

Rental income:

(p) Goods and services tax

Sale of goods
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when all the following conditions are satisfied:
•   the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods;
•   the Group retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with ownership nor effective control over 
the goods sold;
•   the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;
•   it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Group; and
•   the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably.

Rendering of services
Revenue from a contract to provide services is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the contract. The stage of completion of 
the contract is determined as follows:
•  management and accounting fees are recognised by reference to the management service contract which reflect the performance of 
contracted services.

Interest income
Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the amount of 
revenue can be measured reliably. Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective 
interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset 
to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Onerous contracts
Present obligations arising under onerous contracts are recognised and measured as a provision. An onerous contract is considered to exist 
where the Group has a contract under which the unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations under the contract exceed the economic 
benefits expected to be received from the contract. The Group was not subject to an onerous contract during the reporting period.

Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flow on a gross basis. The GST component of cash flows arising from investing and 
financing activities which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is classified as operating cash flows.

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST), except:
•  where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority, it is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of an 
asset or as part of an item of expense; or
•  for receivables and payables which are recognised inclusive of GST, the net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation 
authority is included as part of receivables or payables.

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Revenue is reduced for estimated customer returns, stock 
rotation, price protection, rebates and other similar allowances.

Government grants
Government grants are recognised in accordance with the accounting policy outline in note 2(g).

The Group's policy for recognition from operating leases is described in note 2(l).
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Note 3: Revenue

2011 2010
Revenue $ $

Note 3A: Revenue from Government Grants

Grants from related entities:
FaHCSIA - Food Grant 1,205,268 2,623,767 
FaHCSIA - Food Security 876,026 1,479,333 
FaHCSIA - Nutrition  - 40,714 
FaHCSIA - Elliot 27,755 69,430 
FaHCSIA - Pigeon Hole Bush Order 111,285  -
FaHCSIA - Bulman Generator 50,579  -
FaHCSIA - Other 142,620 109,164 

Total revenue from Government Grants 2,413,533 4,322,408 

Note 3B: Sale of goods and rendering of services
Management fees 2,130,007 2,773,747 
Sale of goods 1,531,857 1,970,570 

Total sale of goods and rendering of services 3,661,864 4,744,317 

Note 3C: Interest income
Financial Institutions 88,671 139,067 
Interest from Loans to Stores 33,329 47,802 
Term Deposits 2,926,728 2,219,435 

Total interest income 3,048,728 2,406,304 

Note 3D: Rental income
Operating lease:

House 18,968 14,101 

Total rental income 18,968 14,101 

Note 3E: Store recoveries and charges
Managers Services On-charged 3,762,036 4,013,965 
Recoveries from Managed Stores 1,303,929 1,278,016 

Total store recoveries and charges 5,065,965 5,291,981 

Consolidated
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Note 3: Revenue

2011 2010
$ $

Note 3F: Other revenue
Commission Received 5,848 4,043 
Consultancy Fees 168,569 175,581 
Rebates Received 1,431,020 1,075,889 
Sundry income 22,900 9,630 
Training Government Subsidy 68,026 95,103 
Other rental income  - 932

Total other revenue 1,696,363 1,361,178 

Consolidated
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Note 4: Expenses

2011 2010
$ $

Note 4A: Cost of goods sold

Purchases and direct cost 1,093,735 1,477,349

Note 4B: Depreciation and amortisation
Amortisation of intangible assets 81,403 41,293
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1,659,420 1,445,433

Total depreciation and amortisation 1,740,823 1,486,726

Note 4C: Employee benefits
Wages and salaries 6,948,343 6,792,051
Termination benefits 23,708 111,332
Travel and other allowances 157,743 123,901
Superannuation contributions - defined contribution plans 617,180 689,499
Staff incentive provision 5,469 93,183
Leave and other entitlements 216,094 1,150,984

Total employee benefits 7,968,537 8,960,950

Note 4D: Finance costs
Interest on obligations under finance leases 302 4,884
Other interest payments  - 1,568

Total finance costs 302 6,452

Trade and other receivables  - (132,768)
Other financial assets (165,140) (81,297)

Total impairment of assets (165,140) (214,065)

Note 4F: Loss/(Gain) on disposal of fixed assets
Gain on disposal of fixed assets (18,660) (42,828)
Loss on disposal of fixed assets 57,801 12,979

Total losses / (Gains) on disposal of fixed assets 39,141 (29,849)

Consolidated

Note 4E: Impairment of assets
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Note 4: Expenses (Cont'd)

2011 2010
$ $

Note 4G: Rental expenses
Operating lease rentals 271,206 526,413

Total rental expenses 271,206 526,413

Note 4H:  Store grant expenditure
Ali Curung - Mirnirri Aboriginal Corporation 22,283 99,079
Angurugu - East Arnhem Shire Council trading as Angurugu Store 102,218  -
Balgo - Wirrimanu Community Store Pty Ltd 3,660
Barunga - Barunga Community Store Aboriginal Corporation - Ngan Jilngurru Store 245,468 41,224
Beswick - Wuduluk Progress Aboriginal Corporation - Beswick Community Store 52,782 8,314
Bulman - Gulin Gulin Community Store Incorporated 11,480 106,972
Canteen Creek - Canteen Creek Store Charitable Trust 97,831 201,899
Dajarra - Pathwell Pty Ltd (95) 6
Engawala - Ntjaminya Store Aboriginal Corporation 51,836 128,925
Epenarra - Wetengerr Aboriginal Corporation 129,865 422,941
Imanpa - Imanpa Yaatitjiti Store Association Incorporated 389,721 138,511
Jilkminggan - Dungalan Aboriginal Association Incorporated 59,611 160,984
Manyallaluk - Nungalawuy Store Aboriginal Corporation 241,137 211,753
Mimili - Mimili Maku Store Aboriginal Corporation 75,161 95,385
Ngukurr - Ngukurr Progress Aboriginal Corporation 8,360 1,062
Nguru Walalja - Yuendumu Women's Centre trading as Nguru Walalja   7,776  -
Nyirripi - Nyirripi Community Store Incorporated 14,569 8,314
Pigeon Hole  - Nitjpurru Aboriginal Corporation 144,923 263,786
Ringer Soak – Kundat Djaru Community Store Aboriginal Corporation 89,248 254,172
Titjikala - MacDonnell Shire Council - Titjikala  Store 77,970 8,314
Santa Teresa - Santa Teresa Community Store 8,048
Willowra - Wirliyajarrayi Store Inc 91,045 65,689
Yarralin - Victoria Daly Shire - Yarralin Store 27,819 1,200

Total store grant expenditure 1,952,716 2,218,530

Note 4I: Other expenses
Travel and accommodation 232,528 320,607
Bad debts 22,883 16,254
Information technology 390,199 508,863
Recruitment costs 59,271 123,511
Insurance 107,425 115,582
Accountancy fees 19,520 109,717
Audit fees (Note 4K) 40,000 62,563
Motor vehicle 302,230 284,231
Fringe benefit and payroll tax 436,802 722,263
Training 35,332 94,449
Communication 146,489 188,111
Other 513,747 579,987

Total other expenses 2,306,426 3,126,138

Consolidated

Store grants represent non-recoverable cash advances and other underpinning to assist unviable remote community stores.
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Note 4: Expenses (Cont'd)

2011 2010
$ $

Note 4J: Other grant expenditure
Expenditure of grants received from other entities:

Bulman Generator 50,579  -
Elliot Grant Funding 27,755 69,430
Food Security 16,165 106,030
Nutrition  - 40,714
Other  - 50,000

Total other grant expenditure 94,499 266,174

Note 4K: Auditors' remuneration
Amounts paid or payable in respect of the audit or review of the financial statements of the 
company to:

The Australian National Audit Office 42,000 55,000

Total auditors' remuneration 42,000 55,000

Note 5: Other expenses

2011 2010
$ $

Note 5A: Other expenses

Change in fair value of redeemable preference shares upon initial recognition (a)  - 14,173,778
Interest discount on redeemable preference shares   - 983,600
Total other expenses 15,157,378

No non-audit services were provided by the auditors.

Consolidated

Consolidated

(a) Changes in the fair value of redeemable cumulative preference shares arise from the issuing or redemption of these financial 
instruments at other than fair value. 
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Note 6: Income tax expense

2011 2010
$ $

Note 6A: Income tax recognised in profit or loss

Tax expense comprises:
Current tax expense / (income) in respect of the current year 160,757  -

Deferred tax expense / (income) relating to the origination and reversal of temporary differences
(42,530) 174,167

Adjustments recognised in current year in relation to prior years  - 137,316

Total income tax expense /(benefit) 118,227 311,483

Profit / (Loss) before income tax 421,433 (15,064,242)

Income tax expense / (benefit) calculated at 30% 126,430 (4,519,273)

Effect of expenses that are not deductible in determining taxable profit 49,822 39,087
Effect of expenses that are not deductible in determining taxable profit - redeemable preference 
shares  -

4,547,213

Effect of deferred tax expense / (income) relating to the origination and reversal of temporary 
differences  - 107,140
Effect of unused tax losses and tax offsets not recognised (58,025)  -
Adjustments recognised in current year in relation to prior years  - 137,316

Income tax expense in statement of comprehensive income 118,227 311,483

The applicable weighted average effective tax rates are as follows: 28% -2%

Note 6B: Franking Credits
Franking account balance 1,017,829 1,017,829

Note 6C: Current tax assets and liabilities

Current tax assets
Income tax receivable  - 266

 - 266

Current tax liabilities
Income tax payable 160,757  -

160,757  -

The tax rate used in the above reconciliation is the corporate tax rate of 30 % payable by Australian corporate entities on taxable
profits under Australian tax law. There has been no change in the corporate tax rate when compared with the previous reporting
period. 

The prima facie income tax expense on pre-tax accounting profit from operations reconciles to the income tax expense / (benefit) in
the financial statements as follows:

Consolidated
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Note 6D: Deferred tax balances

Consolidated

Opening 
balance

Charged to 
Income

Charged to 
Equity Total

2011 $ $ $ $
Temporary differences

Allowance for impairment 45,106 ( 37,796)  - 7,310 
Prepayments (9,696) (6,366)  - (16,062)
Property, plant & equipment and Intangible 
assets (8,851) 11,699  - 2,848 

Accrued expenses  - 80,277  - 80,277 
Other assets  - 6,326 6,326 
Staff liabilities 5,344 (5,344)  -  -
Employee benefits 189,402 10,478  - 199,880 
Provision for audit fees 16,500 (3,900)  - 12,600 
Fringe benefit and payroll tax 11,796 (12,844)  - (1,048)
Finance lease liability  -  -

249,601 42,530  - 292,131 

17,110 
17,110 

309,241 
309,241 

Opening 
balance

Charged to 
Income

Charged to 
Equity Total

2010 $ $ $ $
Temporary differences

Allowance for impairment 39,926  5,180  - 45,106 
Prepayments (42,037) 32,341  - (9,696)
Property, plant & equipment and Intangible 
assets 147,478 (156,329)  - (8,851)
Accrued expenses  -  -  -
Staff liabilities  - 5,344  - 5,344 
Employee benefits 322,786 (133,384)  - 189,402 
Provision for audit fees 17,190 (690)  - 16,500 
Fringe benefit and payroll tax 99,391 (87,595)  - 11,796 
Finance lease liability (23,649) 23,649  -  -

561,085 (311,484)  - 249,601 

18,547 
18,547 

268,148 
268,148 

Presented on the balance sheet as follows:

Deferred tax assets / (liabilities) arise from the following:

Note 6: Income tax expense (Cont'd)

Presented on the balance sheet as follows:
Deferred tax liability attributable to continuing operations

Deferred tax asset attributable to continuing operations

Presented on the balance sheet as follows:
Deferred tax liability attributable to continuing operations

Deferred tax asset attributable to continuing operations

Page 32



Outback Stores Pty Ltd Annual Report 2010-2011 Page 51 of 72

outback Stores Pty ltd and Controlled Entity

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 30 June 2011
Outback Stores Pty Ltd and Controlled Entity
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2011

2011 2010
$ $

Note 6E: Unrecognised deferred tax assets

32,330 127,676 
32,330 127,676 

Note 6F: Recoverability of deferred tax balances

Unrecognised deferred tax assets

Consolidated

During the February 2010 meeting the board of Outback Stores Pty Ltd resolved to take further action to enhance the Company's 
position to apply for Public Benevolent Institution (PBI) Status . If Outback Stores Pty Ltd were able to obtain PBI status it would 
no longer be subject to income tax and the deferred tax balance would no longer be recoverable and will be written off.  At the date 
that these financial statements were authorised for issue Outback Stores Pty Ltd has not made an application for PBI status with the 
Australian Taxation Office. 

Note 6: Income tax expense (Cont'd)
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Note 7: Current Assets

2011 2010
$ $

Note 7A: Cash and cash equivalents
Cash          1,971,323        2,993,528 
Short term deposits        61,350,000      60,800,000 
Total cash and cash equivalents        63,321,323      63,793,528 

Note 7B: Inventories
Finished goods at cost             101,486 200,826

            101,486           200,826 

Note 7C: Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables (i)

Other 31,807 88,614
Rebates 151,894 205,264
Store debt 813,579 776,037

997,280 1,069,915
Allowance for impairment of trade receivables (24,366) (302)
Total trade receivables 972,914 1,069,613
Other receivables

Accrued interest          1,033,904 418,580
Bonds               19,419 20,579
Employees                 1,002 836
Fringe benefit (payable) / refundable - 15,089
Investment clearing - stores 8,099 -
Rebates accruals 140,587 17,251
Sundry receivables 327,633 325,785

Total other receivables 1,530,644 798,120
Total trade and other receivables 2,503,558 1,867,733

Net receivables are aged as follows:
Not overdue 2,474,180 1,820,956
Overdue: -

30 to 60 days 1,526 45,226
60 to 90 days 3,486 -
More than 90 days 24,366 1,551

Total trade and other receivables 2,503,558 1,867,733

Consolidated

(i) No interest is charged on outstanding debtor balances.  An allowance has been made for irrecoverable amounts determined from 
liquidity review of individual stores and management views. Debtor days is not viewed as an accurate measurement of impairment of 
receivables.

Inventories are purchased goods used in trading community stores that are owned and operated by the Group and are expected to be 
recovered within twelve months. 
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Note 7: Current Assets (cont'd)

2011 2010
$ $

Movement / (recoveries) in allowance for impairment of trade receivables
Balance at the beginning of the year 302 133,070
Reversal of impairment provision (302) (133,481)
Impairment losses recognised on receivables 24,366 713

Balance at the end of the year 24,366 302

Ageing of impaired trade receivables
Current - 302
30 to 60 days -  -
60 to 90 days -  -
More than 90 days 24,366  -

Balance at the end of the year 24,366 302

Note 7D: Other financial assets

Current
Loans to other entities (ii) 98,768 81,894
Allowance for impairment of loans to other entities - (16,000)

98,768  65,894 

Non-current

Loans to other entities (ii) 381,771 504,816 
Allowance for impairment of loans to other entities - (149,140)

381,771  355,676 

Total other financial assets 480,539 421,570 

Movement / (recoveries) in allowance for impairment of loans to other entities

Balance at the beginning of the year 165,140 246,437
Reversal of impairment provision (165,140) (161,263)
Impairment losses recognised on loans to other entities - 79,966

Balance at the end of the year - 165,140 

Consolidated

In determining the recoverability of receivables, management considers any change in the credit quality of the receivables from the 
date credit was initially granted up to the reporting date. The concentration of credit risk is high due to the nature of community 
stores and their dependency on government assistance. Amounts written off as uncollectible are recovered out of grant funding as 
store grants.
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Note 7: Current Assets (cont'd)

2011 2010
$ $

Note 7E: Other current assets
Prepayments 107,893 61,651
Deposits paid 18,603 18,601
Total other current assets 126,496 80,252

Consolidated

(i) Outback Stores Pty Ltd is the shareholder of its wholly-owned subsidiary Ti-Tree Grocery Store Pty Ltd. 

Ti-Tree was incorporated on 11 December 2008 within Australia and its financial position and results is reported in these 
consolidated financial statements.

(ii) Loans to other entities represents unsecured commercial loans to community stores under the terms of management agreements, 
repayable over the management agreement period, being between 1 to 10 years. 

Page 36



Outback Stores Pty Ltd Annual Report 2010-2011 Page 55 of 72

outback Stores Pty ltd and Controlled Entity

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 30 June 2011
Outback Stores Pty Ltd and Controlled Entity
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2011

Consolidated

Housing at 
cost

Containers 
at cost

Furniture 
and 

fittings at 
cost

Capitalised 
Leased 

Assets at 
cost

Leasehold 
Improve-
ments at 

cost

Motor 
Vehicle and 
components 

at cost

IT 
Equipment 

at cost Total
$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

As at 1 July 2010
Gross book value 1,389,562 184,106 326,624 128,411 140,344 1,891,632 2,493,324 6,554,003 
Accumulated 
depreciation/amortisation 
and impairment

(152,192) (64,459) (164,997) (115,558) (71,762) (954,419) (1,055,541) (2,578,928)

Net book value 1 July 
2010 1,237,370 119,647 161,627 12,853 68,582 937,213 1,437,783 3,975,075 

Additions  -  - 54,593  - 17,112 23,938 50,533 146,176 
Depreciation (94,021) (27,190) (45,574) (12,853) (36,362) (697,109) (746,311) (1,659,420)
Transfers  -  -  -  -  -  - 57,627 57,627 
Disposals  - (33,557) (48,958)  -  - (8,518) (12,854) (103,887)
Net book value 30 June 
2011 1,143,349 58,900 121,688  - 49,332 255,524 786,778 2,415,571 

Gross book value 1,389,562 118,814 293,291  - 126,206 1,815,970 2,529,325 6,273,168 
Accumulated 
depreciation/amortisation 
and impairment (246,213) (59,914) (171,603)  - (76,874) (1,560,446) (1,742,547) (3,857,597)

1,143,349 58,900 121,688  - 49,332 255,524 786,778 2,415,571 

As at 1 July 2009
Gross book value 1,389,562 162,600 304,645 191,837 70,967 2,423,982 2,427,828 6,971,421 
Accumulated 
depreciation/amortisation 
and impairment

(58,171) (27,825) (108,867) (114,876) (36,408) (610,669) (527,962) (1,484,778)

Net book value 1 July 
2009 1,331,391 134,775 195,778 76,961 34,559 1,813,313 1,899,866 5,486,643 

Additions  - 39,865 19,132  - 20,232 81,687 205,986 366,902 
Depreciation (94,021) (40,225) (62,713) (63,061) (32,052) (584,420) (568,940) (1,445,432)

Transfers  -  - 13,424 (1,047) 45,855 (11,033) (47,199)  -
Disposals  - (14,768) (3,994)  - (12) (362,334) (51,931) (433,039)
Net book value 30 June 
2010 1,237,370 119,647 161,627 12,853 68,582 937,213 1,437,782 3,975,074 

Gross book value 1,389,562 184,106 326,624 128,411 140,344 1,891,632 2,493,324 6,554,003 
Accumulated 
depreciation/amortisation 
and impairment (152,192) (64,459) (164,997) (115,558) (71,762) (954,419) (1,055,541) (2,578,928)

1,237,370 119,647 161,627 12,853 68,582 937,213 1,437,783 3,975,075 

Note 8: Property, Plant and Equipment

Net book value as of 30 June 2010 
represented by:

Net book value as of 30 June 2011 
represented by:

Page 37



Outback Stores Pty Ltd Annual Report 2010-2011 Page 56 of 72

outback Stores Pty ltd and Controlled Entity

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 30 June 2011
Outback Stores Pty Ltd and Controlled Entity
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2011

Consolidated
Trademarks IT Software Total

$ $ $
As at 1 July 2010
Gross book value 16,177 423,224 439,401 
Accumulated amortisation and impairment (5,456) (233,959) (239,415)
Net book value 1 July 2010 10,721 189,265 199,986 
Additions  - 2,598 2,598 
Amortisation (1,618) (79,785) (81,403)
Transfers  - (57,627) (57,627)
Disposals  - (11,409) (11,409)
Net book value 30 June 2011 9,103 43,042 52,145 
Net book value as of 30 June 2011 represented by:
Gross book value 16,177 314,329 330,506 
Accumulated amortisation and impairment (7,074) (271,285) (278,359)

9,103 43,044 52,147 

As at 1 July 2009
Gross book value 16,177 413,639 429,816 
Accumulated amortisation and impairment (3,838) (194,283) (198,121)
Net book value 1 July 2009 12,339 219,356 231,695 
Additions  - 9,585 9,585 
Amortisation (1,618) (39,676) (41,294)
Net book value 30 June 2010 10,721 189,265 199,986 
Net book value as of 30 June 2010 represented by:
Gross book value 16,177 423,224 439,401 
Accumulated amortisation and impairment (5,456) (233,959) (239,415)

10,721 189,265 199,986 

Note 9: Intangible Assets
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Note 10: Current Liabilities

2011 2010
$ $

Note 10A: Trade and other payables
Trade creditors 396,137 319,871 
Goods and services tax payable 32,611 162,246 
Accrued expenses 384,362 406,389 
Staff and other liabilities - 995
PAYG withholding tax payable 2,490 4,619 
Total trade and other payables            815,600 894,120 

Settlement of trade creditors is net 30 days.

Note 10B: Grants
Unexpended grants - Parent entity

IBA - Northern Territory Emergency Relief Funding (NTER) 14,207,184 15,458,615 
FAHCSIA Food Grant 13,710,928 14,215,650 

Unexpended grants - Other
Elliot Grant Funding 34,982 85,707 
Nutritional and minor Grant Funding 79,966 79,966 

Total grants 28,033,060 29,839,938 

Grants liabilities are represented by:
Current 28,033,060 29,839,938 
Non-current  -  -
Total grants 28,033,060 29,839,938 

Note 10C: Provisions 
Current
Employee benefits 514,103 529,536 
Audit fees 42,000 55,000 
Fringe benefit and payroll tax (3,493) 37,529 
Total current provisions 552,610 622,065 

Non-current
Employee benefits (i) 152,165 100,810 
Total provisions 704,775 722,875 

Consolidated

(i) The non-current employee benefits are represented by the employee entitlements not expected to be taken within 12 months, 
being $152,165 long service leave, (2010: $100,810 long service leave).
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Note 10C: Provision movements

Audit fees
Fringe benefit 
and payroll tax

$ $
2011
Balance at 1 July 2010 55,000 37,529 
Reduction resulting from payments of future economic benefits (51,500) (456,689)
Reduction resulting from remeasurement (3,500) (813)
Additional provisions recognised 42,000 388,750 

42,000 (31,223)

Fringe benefit payable 27,730 
Balance as at 30 June 2011 42,000 (3,493)

Disclosed in the financial statements as:
Current provisions 42,000 (3,493)
Non Current provision  -  -

42,000 (3,493)

2011 2010
$ $

Note 10D:  Borrowings
Unsecured - at amortised cost
Current
Corporate credit cards (i)  - 39,759 

Secured - at amortised cost
Current
Finance lease liability (iii) (Note 12)  - 16,292 
Total borrowings  - 56,051 

Disclosed in the financial statements as:
Current borrowings  - 56,051 
Non-current borrowings  -  -

 - 56,051 

Note 10: Current Liabilities (Cont'd)

Consolidated

Consolidated
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(i) Corporate credit cards are provided to management personnel for use of corporate expenses and are repayable within 14 days 
of being incurred.  As at year end, all balances have been repaid.

(ii) On 11 February 2010 the 40,000,000 redeemable cumulative preference shares were converted to 40,000,000 fully paid 
ordinary shares.

 No dividend was declared or expected during the holding period of preference shares. 

(iii) Secured by the applicable capitalised leased assets (Note 8).  The borrowing represents capitalised leased motor vehicles 
with repayment periods of 3 years.

Note 10: Current Liabilities (Cont'd)
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2011 2010
$ $

Authorised and issued shares:
40,000,001 fully paid ordinary share (2010: 40,000,001 fully paid ordinary share) 40,000,001 40,000,001

Redeemable cumulative preference shares:

Finance Leases
Lessee arrangements

2011 2010
$ $

Minimum future lease payments:
No later than one year 16,620
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years.  -  -
Minimum future lease payments  - 16,620
Less:  future finance charges (328)
Present value of minimum lease payments  - 16,292

Included in the financial statements as:
Current borrowings (Note 10D)  - 16,292
Non-current  borrowings (Note 10D)  -  -

 - 16,292

All lease arrangements have been repaid in full during 2011 and no new agreements have been 
entered into.

Operating leases
Lessee arrangements

Non-cancellable operating lease commitments
No later than one year 262,278 551,299
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years. 168,318 615,726
Later than 5 years  -  -

430,596 1,167,025

Included in the financial statements as other payables:
Accrued expenses (Note 10A)  - 502

 - 502

Consolidated

On 11 February 2010 the redeemable cumulative preference shares previously recognised as borrowings were converted to 40,000,000 
fully paid ordinary shares.   

Finance leases relate to motor vehicles with lease terms of 3 years.  The leases are non-cancellable, with a implicit interest rate average 
10.5%.  Capitalised leased assets secure the lease liabilities. There are no contingent rentals.

Operating leases relate to business premises with lease terms of between 1 to 6 years and residential facilities for temporary 
accommodation options.  The lease terms include options to extend lease periods of between 1 and 2 years and escallation clauses that 
provide for rental increases based on CPI review.  The Group does not have an option to purchase the leased assets at the expiry of the 
lease period.

Note 11: Issued Capital

Note 12: Leases

Consolidated

On 2 March 2010 the Department of Families, Housing, Community Services and Indigenous Affairs, on behalf of the Commonwealth 
(the immediate and ultimate parent entity), purchased the shareholding of Outback Stores Pty Ltd from Indigenous Business Australia.
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2011 2010
$ $

(a) Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents        63,321,323      63,793,528 
Total cash and cash equivalents

       63,321,323      63,793,528 

(b) Reconciliation of profit / (loss) to cash flows from operating activities
Profit / (loss) for the year 303,206 (15,375,725)

Items reclassified as investing activities:
Interest received (3,048,728) (3,217,350)
Underpinning of stores 2,047,214 2,484,703 

Non cash transactions
Fair value adjustment of preference shares  - 14,173,778 
Interest on preference shares  - 983,600 
Impairment provision (165,140) (214,386)
Depreciation and amortisation 1,740,823 1,486,726 
(Gain) / Loss on disposal of fixed assets 39,141 (29,850)

Changes in net assets and liabilities:
(Increase) / decrease in assets:

Trade and other receivables (20,501) 520,833 
Inventories 99,340 (22,626)
Other current assets (46,244) 46,497 
Deferred tax assets (41,093) 345,210 

Increase / (decrease) in liabilities:
Trade and other payables (78,520) (2,581,592)
Grants (1,806,878) (3,420,379)
Current tax liabilities 160,491 923,603 
Deferred tax liabilities (1,437) (47,139)
Provisions (18,100) (417,434)

Net cash flows generated or (used in) operating activities (836,426) (4,361,531)

(c) Non cash transactions

Note 13: Cash flow reconciliation

For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand and in banks and investments in 
term deposits.  Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year as shown in the statement of cash flows is reconciled to the 
related items in the statement of financial position as follows:

Consolidated

On 2 March 2010, the company converted its liability in respect of 40,000,000 redeemable cumulative preference shares to ordinary 
shares at the issue price of $1.
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year ended 
2011

year ended 
2010

year ended 
2011

year ended 
2010

$ $ $ $
Ti - Tree                332,252               337,669                    6,474                   5,333 
Tennant Creek Foodbarn Partnership                386,792               594,863                    8,796                 69,088 
Total                719,044               932,532                  15,270                 74,421 

2011 2010 2011 2010
$ $ $ $

Ti - Tree                  29,794                 35,266                       198                   1,451 
Tennant Creek Foodbarn Partnership                  41,126                 31,681                         -                        -
Total                  70,920                 66,947                       198                   1,451 

No transactions were entered into with key management personnel, other than that under their employment arrangements. 

Sales of goods Purchases of goods

Amounts owed by related parties Amounts owed to related parties

The following balance were outstanding at the end of the reporting period.

Transactions and Loans to Directors and Director-related Entities

Transactions with Key Management Personnel

Note 14: Related Party Disclosures

Prior to 2 March 2010 the immediate parent entity was the Indigenous Business Australia. The ultimate parent entity of the Group 
was the Commonwealth of Australia.

During the year, group entities entered into the following trading transactions with related parties.

No loans or transactions were made to the Directors or Director-related entities. 

Trading Transactions

On 2 March 2010 the Department of Families, Housing, Community Services and Indigenous Affairs, on behalf of the 
Commonwealth (the immediate and ultimate parent entity), purchased the shareholding of Outback Stores Pty Ltd from Indigenous 
Business Australia.

Parent and Ultimate Parent Entity

Balances and transactions between the company and its subsidiary, which are related parties of the company, have been eliminated 
on consolidation and are not disclosed in this note. Details of transactions between the Group and other related parties are 
disclosed below.
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2011 2010
$ $

Short-term employee benefits             746,211           961,253 
Other long-term benefits                       -             69,315 
Termination benefits               16,458           111,332 
Total 762,669 1,141,900 

Key management personnel of the group during the year were:

Steve Moore Chief Executive Officer (appointed 29 June 2011)
Rod Mainard Chief Excecutive Officer (resigned 7 June 2011)
Alastair King Chief Excecutive Officer (appointed 17 August 2009 and contract ended 27 August 2010)
Barry Orr Operations Manager (appointed 1 July 2009)
Louise Dutton Chief Financial Officer (appointed 1 March 2009)

As to date the directors receive no remuneration from Outback Stores.

There were no events subsequent to balance date that required reporting.

An entity in the Group is currently in dispute with a previous client with issues relating to contractual obligations. The directors 
believe, based on legal advice, that no losses will be incurred. The legal claim is expected to be settled in the course of the next 
eighteen months.

Note 15: Key Management Personnel Compensation

Note 16: Subsequent Events

Note 17: Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets

Details of key management personnel:

Consolidated

The aggregate compensation made to directors and other members of key management personnel of the group is set out below:
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2011 2010
$ $

18A Categories of financial instruments
Financial Assets
Loans and receivables:

Cash and cash equivalents 63,321,323 63,793,528 
Trade and other receivables 2,503,558 1,867,733 
Other financial assets - loans 480,539 421,570 

Carrying amount of financial assets 66,305,420 66,082,831 

Financial Liabilities
Other financial liabilities:

Trade and other payables 815,600 894,120 
Grants 28,033,060 29,839,938 
Borrowings  - 56,051 

Carrying amount of financial liabilities 28,848,660 30,790,109 

Financial liabilities designated as at 'amortised cost'.

Changes in fair value of preference shares  - (14,173,778)
Interest expense on preference shares  - (983,600)

Difference between carrying amount and maturity amount
Financial liability at fair value  -
Amount payable at maturity  -  -

- -

Note 18: Financial Instruments

Consolidated
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18B Financial risk management objectives

Capital risk management

Financial risk management objectives

Market Risk

Value at Risk (VaR) analysis

Foreign currency risk management

Credit risks

The Group has exposure to interest rate risk and no foreign currency risk. The Group has a treasury function policy and interest rate
risks are managed by investing in short term interest bearing deposits, and lending to stores varied maturity periods. Periods include
up to ten years and are provided to stores at a discounted rate of interest. 

The Group does not prepare a sensitivity analysis.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which includes borrowings disclosed in note 10D, cash and cash equivalents in
note 7A and unexpended grant funding in note 10B.

The Group is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements. Operating cash flows are used to operate and expand the
Group's operations as well as to make routine outflows of tax. 

The nature of services provided contribute to the high liquidity risk underlying the financial instruments. The Group is dependent on
ongoing government support to provide food security and quality stores within remote communities.

The capital structure of the Group consists of issued share capital and retained earnings as disclosed in the statement of changes in
equity.

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Group.
The Group only deals with stores that it manages, related parties, funding bodies or credit worthy counter parties such as Arnhem
Land Progress Aboriginal Corporation (ALPA). ALPA supply the Group with relief managers as require, provide IT service desk
support and provide assistance with grocery manager. It therefore is in a position to ensure that it minimises its exposure to credit
risk. 

The Group has minimum foreign exchange exposure and does not manage any implicit risk.

The Group has no formalised risk management processes in place. It lends money to stores that it manages on approval from the
Stores Acquisition Committee, which is a sub committee of the board of directors. Loans are provided at a discounted rate of
interest.

Note 18: Financial Instruments (Cont'd)

The Store Acquisition Committee's purpose is to review the viability of new stores proposed for management agreements to evaluate
required establishment and support funds. This committee assists in mitigating liquidity risk prior to entering into a new contract. In
some instances the stores are unable to repay the loans and these amounts are then funded from grant income received from the
Group's immediate parent and ultimate parent entity.

The Group manages its capital to ensure that it will be able to continue as a going concern while meeting its social responsibility for
food security through the optimisation of debt and grant funding.
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Interest rate risk management

Consolidation

Average 
effective 

interest rate
within 1 year 1 to 5

years
> 5

years Total

2011 % $ $ $ $
Short term deposits (fixed interest rate) 6.17% 61,350,000 - - 61,350,000 
Other cash & cash equivalents (variable interest) 4.50% 1,971,323 - - 1,971,323 
Store loans (fixed interest rate) 6.52% 98,768 336,991 44,780 480,539 

63,420,091 336,991 44,780 63,801,862 

2010
Short term deposits (fixed interest rate) 5.91% 60,800,000 - - 60,800,000 
Other cash & cash equivalents (variable interest) 4.44% 2,993,528 - - 2,993,528 
Store loans (fixed interest rate) 5.65% 65,894 261,217 94,459 421,570 

63,859,422 261,217 94,459 64,215,098 

Note 18: Financial Instruments (Cont'd)

The following tables illustrates the maturities for interest bearing financial assets subject to interest rate risk.

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk from term deposits and loans provided to remote community stores. Currently there is a
treasury function policy and interest rate risk is managed by investing in short term interest bearing deposits and lending to stores
over the period of agreed management contracts. Term deposits and trading accounts are held in pre-approved financial institutions
only.
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Liquidity risk management

Consolidation

Average 
effective 

interest rate
within 1 year 1 to 5

years
> 5

years Total

2011 $ $ $ $ $
Finance lease liability (fixed interest rate) - - - - -
Trade and other payables - 815,600 - - 815,600 
Grants - 28,033,060 - - 28,033,060 
Corporate cards - - - - -

28,848,660 - - 28,848,660 

2010
Finance lease liability (fixed interest rate) 10.55% 16,292 - - 16,292 
Trade and other payables - 894,120 - - 894,120 
Grants - 29,839,938 - - 29,839,938 
Corporate cards - 39,759 - - 39,759 

30,790,109 - - 30,790,109 

18C Fair value of financial instruments

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined as follows:

Note 18: Financial Instruments (Cont'd)

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities with standard terms and conditions and traded on active liquid markets 
is determined with reference to quoted market prices.

The fair value of other financial assets and liabilities is determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing models based 
on discounted cash flow analysis using prices from observable current market transactions.

Unless where otherwise stated, the directors consider the financial assets and financial liability carrying amount to also be its fair
value.

The following tables illustrates the maturities for financial liabilities attributable to liquidity risk. The tables have been drawn based
on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay.

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management exists with the board of directors.
The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves and banking facilities (term deposits) to meet forecast cash
flows taking into account maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities.
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Financial position
2011 2010

$ $
Assets:

Current assets 66,349,302      66,241,023 
Non-current assets 2,868,256        4,498,901 

Total assets        69,217,558 70,739,924

Liabilities
Current liabilities 29,469,529  31,345,218 
Non-current Liabilities 168,970 118,854

Total liabilities        29,638,499 31,464,072

Equity
Issued capital 40,000,001 40,000,001
Retained earnings (420,942) (724,149)

Total equity        39,579,059 39,275,852

Financial peformance Year ended Year ended
2011 2010

Profit for the year 303,206 (15,498,142)
Total comprehesive income 303,206 (15,498,142)

Note 19: Parent Entity Disclosures

Company
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Core Values

integrity 
•	We	are	committed	to	the	principles	of	truth	and	honesty	and	we	will	be	equitable,	

ethical and professional

Diversity 
•	We	respect	and	embrace	cultural	differences

Health & Safety 
•	Health	and	safety	is	a	fundamental	element	of	all	our	activities

Simplicity 
•	we	value	and	practice	simplicity

Quality 
•	We	measure	quality	by	our	stakeholder	satisfaction

Accountability
•	As	individuals	we	will	be	transparent,	accountable	to	our	organisation,	

stakeholders and each other



Phone: (08) 8982 1900

Fax: (08) 8982 1903

mailto: info@outbackstores.com.au

www.outbackstores.com.au

Postal address: PO Box 1953, BERRIMAH NT 0828

Street address: 67 Pruen Rd, BERRIMAH NT 0828


